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 On November 16, 2020, Complainants L&L Candle Company LLC (“L&L”) and Sotera 

Tschetter, Inc. (“Sotera Design”) (collectively, “Complainants”) filed a motion for summary 

determination of violation by Respondents Veraflame International, Inc. (“Veraflame”); Ningbo 

Mascube Import Export Company (“Ningbo Mascube”); Virtual Candles Limited (“Virtual 

Candles”); Yiwu Shengda Art Co., Ltd. (“Yiwu”); and Ningbo Shanhuang Electric Appliance 

Co. (“Ningbo Shanhuang”).  Motion Docket No. 1195-032 (the “Motion”).  The motion requests 

an initial determination on violation and a recommended determination on remedy and bonding, 

supported by a memorandum of points and authorities (the “Memo.”).  On December 4, 2020, 

the Commission Investigative Staff (“Staff”) filed a response supporting the motion.  No other 

responses were received.  On December 9, 2020, Complainants filed a reply brief. 

For the reasons discussed below, it is my initial determination that there is a violation of 

section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, in the importation into the 

United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the United States after importation of 

certain electronic candle products and components thereof by Veraflame, Ningbo Mascube, 
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Virtual Candles, Yiwu, and Ningbo Shanhuang.  Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.42(a)(1)(ii), 

it is my recommended determination that limited exclusion orders and a general exclusion order 

issue to remedy the violation of section 337, and that a bond of 100% be imposed during the 

Presidential review period.  Because this initial determination makes a determination on 

violation with respect to each of the remaining respondents in this investigation, the procedural 

schedule is hereby suspended and no hearing will proceed on May 5-7, 2021. 

I. BACKGROUND 

A. Procedural History 

On March 31, 2020, the Commission issued a Notice of Investigation in this matter upon 

a complaint alleging violations of section 337 the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, by reason of 

infringement of certain claims of United States Patent Nos. 8,550,660 (“the ’660 patent”), 

9,366,402 (“the ’402 patent”), 9,512,971 (“the ’971 patent”), 9,523,471 (“the ’471 patent”), and 

10,533,718 (“the ’718 patent”).  The Commission ordered that an investigation be instituted to 

determine  

whether there is a violation of subsection (a)(1)(B) of section 337 in the 
importation into the United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the 
United States after importation of certain products identified in paragraph (2) by 
reason of infringement of one or more of claims 1-6, 10, 12-15, 17-19, and 28 of 
the '660 patent; claims 115 of the '402 patent; claims 1-4, 6-12, 14-18, 20-25, 27, 
and 28 of the '971 patent; claims 1-7, 10-14, 17, 18, 22, 24, 25, 27, and 29 of the 
'471 patent; and claims 1-5, 7, 8, 10-12, 15, 17, 21, and 22 of the '718 patent; and 
whether an industry in the United States exists as required by subsection (a)(2) of 
section 337 . . . . 

Notice at 2.  The investigation was instituted upon publication of the Notice of Investigation in 

the Federal Register on March 11, 2020.; 85 Fed. Reg. 13671; 19 C.F.R. § 210.10(b).  

Complainants assert claims from the ’402, ’971, ’471, and ’718 patent against the Defaulted 

Respondents.  The ’660 patent is not asserted against the Defaulting Respondents. 
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The named respondents are:  The Gerson Company of Olathe, Kansas; Gerson 

International (H.K.) Ltd. of Kowloon, Hong Kong; Sterno Home Inc. of Coquitlam, Canada; 

Ningbo Huamao International Trading Co., Ltd. of Ningbo City, China; Ningbo Yinzhou 

Langsheng Artware Co., Ltd. of Ningbo City, China; Lifetime Brands, Inc. of Garden City, 

New York; Scott Brothers Entertainment, Inc. of Las Vegas, Nevada; Nantong Ya Tai Candle 

Arts & Crafts Co., Ltd. of  San Gabriel, California; NapaStyIe, Inc. of Napa, California; 

Veraflame International, Inc. of Vancouver, Canada; MerchSource, LLC of Irvine, California; 

Ningbo Mascube Import Export Company of Ningbo City, China; Decorware International Inc. 

dba Decorware Inc. of Cucamonga, California; Shenzhen Goldenwell Smart Technology Co., 

Ltd. of Shenzhen City, China; Shenzhen Ksperway Technology Co., Ltd. of Shenzhen City, 

China; Ningbo Shanhuang Electric Appliance Co. of Ningbo City, China; Yiwu Shengda Art 

Co., Ltd. of Yiwu City, China; Shenzhen Tongfang Optoelectronic Technology Co., Ltd. of 

Shenzhen City, China; TFL Candles of Shenzhen City, China; Guangdong Tongfang Lighting 

Co., Ltd of Hong Kong; Tongfang Optoelectric Company of Hong Kong; and Virtual Candles 

Limited of Ucombe Maidstone, United Kingdom.  

Many of the respondents have settled, entered consent orders, or both.  On May 4, 2020, I 

issued an initial determination (Order No. 7), terminating the investigation with respect to 

Shenzhen Tongfang Optoelectronic Technology Co., Ltd.; TFL Candles; Guangdong Tongfang 

Lighting Co., Ltd.; and Tongfang Optoelectronic Company based on a consent order.  On June 3, 

2020, the Commission issued a Notice determining not to review Order No. 7.     

On June 15, 2020, I issued an initial determination (Order No. 12) terminating the 

investigation with respect to The Gerson Company and Gerson International (H.K.), Ltd.  On 

June 30, 2020, the Commission issued a Notice determining not to review Order No. 12. 
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On July 8, 2020, I issued an initial determination (Order No. 14), finding Veraflame, 

Ningbo Mascube, and Virtual Candles in default.  On August 3, 2020, the Commission issued a 

Notice determining not to review Order No. 14.   

On July 15, 2020, I issued an initial determination (Order No. 15) terminating 

Merchsource, LLC from the investigation based on a settlement agreement.  On August 5, 2020, 

the Commission issued a Notice determining not to review Order No. 15. 

On July 28, 2020, I issued an initial determination (Order No. 17) granting summary 

determination with respect to Scott Brothers Entertainment Inc., based on no importation.  On 

August 28, 2020, the Commission issued a Notice determining not to review Order No. 17.   

On October 13, 2020, I issued an initial determination (Order No. 28) granting summary 

determination of non-infringement with respect to Sterno Home Inc.; Ningbo Huamao 

International Trading Co., Ltd.; and Ningbo Langsheng Artwork Co., Ltd. (collectively, 

“Sterno”); and Lifetime Brands, Inc. (“Lifetime”).  While Complainants’ petition for review of 

Order No. 28 was pending, Complainants entered into settlement agreements with Sterno and 

Lifetime and filed joint motions to terminate the investigation as to Sterno and Lifetime.  On 

December 17, 2020, the Commission issued a notice determining to review Order No. 28 and 

found that the issues raised in Complainants’ petition for review were moot in view of the 

pending motions to terminate.  The Commission “remand[ed] the investigation as to Sterno and 

Lifetime in order to permit the ALJ to rule on [the motions to terminate] in the first instance.”  

Notice at 2.   

On October 19, 2020, I issued an initial determination (Order No. 29) terminating 

Decorware International Inc., based on a settlement.  On November 2, 2020, the Commission 

issued a Notice determining not to review Order No. 29. 
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On October 27, 2020, I issued an order to show cause (Order No. 30) why Yiwu and 

Ningbo Shanhuang should not be subject to entry of default.  Staff supported the motion.  No 

other responses were filed.  On November 12, 2020, I issued an initial determination (Order No. 

33) finding Yiwu and Ningbo Shanhuang in default.  On November 30, 2020, the Commission 

issued a Notice determining not to review Order No. 33. 

On November 13, 2020, I issued an initial determination (Order No. 35) terminating 

NapaStyle, Inc., Shenzhen Goldenwell Smart Technology Co., Ltd., and Shenzhen Ksperway 

Technology Co., Ltd., based on the withdrawal of allegations in the complaint.  On November 

30, 2020, the Commission issued a Notice determining not to review Order No. 35.   

On December 17, 2020, I issued an initial determination (Order No. 37) terminating the 

investigation with respect to Nantong Ya Tai Candle Arts & Crafts Co., Ltd.  On January 5, 

2021, the Commission issued a Notice determining not to review Order No. 37.   

On December 18, 2020, I issued an initial determination (Order No. 38) terminating 

Sterno Home Inc.; Ningbo Huamao International Trading Co., Ltd.; Ningbo Langsheng Artwork 

Co., Ltd. based on a settlement agreement.  On January 5, 2021, the Commission issued a Notice 

determining not to review Order No. 38.  

On December 18, 2020, I issued an initial determination (Order No. 39) terminating 

Lifetime Brands, Inc., based on settlement.  On January 5, 2021, the Commission issued a Notice 

determining not to review Order No. 39. 

The five defaulted respondents who have not been terminated from the investigation are 

Veraflame, Ningbo Mascube, Virtual Candles, Yiwu, and Ningbo Shanhuang (collectively, the 

“Defaulting Respondents”). 
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B. Motion for Summary Determination 

 Complainants’ motion seeks summary determination of importation and infringement by 

the defaulting Respondents and summary determination that there is a domestic industry.  In 

addition, Complainants seek entry of a general exclusion order (“GEO”) and a bond set for 100% 

of the value of imported infringing goods pending Presidential review.    

C. The Private Parties 

1. Complainants  

 Complainant L&L Candle (“L&L”) is a California corporation organized under the laws 

of the state of Delaware with a principal place of business located at 621 Lunar Avenue, Brea, 

California 92821.  Complaint ¶ 13.  Complainant Sotera Tschetter, Inc. (“Sotera”) is a Minnesota 

corporation with its principal place of business is at 755 Prior Avenue N., St. Paul, MN 55104.  

Complaint ¶ 27.  Sotera assists L&L with product design.  Id.   

2. Defaulting Respondents 

Defaulting Respondent Veraflame is a corporation organized and existing under the laws 

of Canada with headquarters at 1383 8th Ave., W, Vancouver, Canada.  Complaint ¶ 63.  

Veraflame is a wholesaler of electric candle products, including those bearing the Veraflame® 

brand.  Id. at 64. 

 Defaulting Respondent Ningbo Mascube is a corporation organized and existing under 

the laws of China with headquarters at No. 58 Dagang Middle Road, Ningbo City, Zhejiang 

Province.  Id. at ¶ 68.  Ningbo Mascube is a manufacturer of electric candle products, including 

accused products bearing the Sharper Image® brand manufactured for Respondents 

MerchSource.  Id. at ¶ 69.  

Defaulting Respondent Ningbo Shanhuang is a corporation organized and existing under 

the laws of China with headquarters at 115 Xinggongyi Road, Ningbo City, Zhejiang Province, 
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People’s Republic of China.   Id. at ¶ 80.  Ningbo Shanhuang is a manufacturer of electric candle 

products, including accused products bearing the Luminicious® brand.  Id. at ¶ 81.  Ningbo 

Shanhuang or others on its behalf manufacture, import, sell for importation and sell the accused 

products after importation into the United States.  Id. at ¶ 82.     

 Defaulting Respondent Yiwu is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of 

China with headquarters at No. 16, Tianji Road, Yinan Industrial Zone, Fotang Town, Yiwu 

City, Zhejiang Province.  Id. at ¶ 83.  Yiwu is a manufacturer of electric candle products, 

including accused products bearing Vinkor, Antizer, YIWER, Pandaing, Dabaiyang, Da, 

OSHINE, JUNPEI, and Aku Tonpa brands.  Id. at ¶ 84.   

 Defaulting Respondent Virtual Candles is a company organized and existing under the 

laws of England with headquarters at Church Farm, Ulcombe, Maidstone, United Kingdom.  Id. 

at ¶ 97.  Virtual Candles is a sales agent and distributor for candles sold by Shenzhen Tongfang 

and manufactured by TFL Candles and Tongfang Lighting.  Id. at ¶ 98. 

II. LEGAL STANDARDS   

A. Summary Determination 

Commission Rule 210.18 governing summary determination states, in part: 

The determination sought by the moving party shall be rendered if 
pleadings and any depositions, answers to interrogatories, and 
admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is 
no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is 
entitled to a summary determination as a matter of law. 

19 C.F.R. § 210.18(b). 

The evidence “must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the 

motion . . . with doubts resolved in favor of the nonmovant.”  Crown Operations Int’l, Ltd. v. 

Solutia, Inc., 289 F.3d 1367, 1375 (Fed. Cir. 2002) (citations omitted); see also Xerox Corp. v. 

3Com Corp., 267 F.3d 1361, 1364 (Fed. Cir. 2001) (“When ruling on a motion for summary 
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judgment, all of the nonmovant’s evidence is to be credited, and all justifiable inferences are to 

be drawn in the nonmovant’s favor.”).  “Issues of fact are genuine only ‘if the evidence is such 

that a reasonable [fact finder] could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.’”  Crown 

Operations Int’l, 289 F.3d at 1375 (quoting Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 

(1986)).  The trier of fact should “assure itself that there is no reasonable version of the facts, on 

the summary judgment record, whereby the nonmovant could prevail, recognizing that the 

purpose of summary judgment is not to deprive a litigant of a fair hearing, but to avoid an 

unnecessary trial.”  EMI Grp. N. Am., Inc. v. Intel Corp., 157 F.3d 887, 891 (Fed. Cir. 1998) 

(citations omitted).  “In other words, ‘[s]ummary judgment is authorized when it is quite clear 

what the truth is,’ [citations omitted], and the law requires judgment in favor of the movant based 

upon facts not in genuine dispute.”  Paragon Podiatry Lab., Inc. v. KLM Labs., Inc., 984 F.2d 

1182, 1185 (Fed. Cir. 1993).   

B. Infringement  

Section 337(a)(1)(B)(i) prohibits “the importation into the United States, the sale for 

importation, or the sale within the United States after importation by the owner, importer, or 

consignee, of articles that – (i) infringe a valid and enforceable United States patent or a valid 

and enforceable United States copyright registered under title 17.”  19 U.S.C. §1337(a)(1)(B)(i).   

The Commission has held that the word “infringe” in Section 337(a)(1)(B)(i) “derives its 

legal meaning from 35 U.S.C. § 271, the section of the Patent Act that defines patent 

infringement.”  Certain Electronic Devices with Image Processing Systems, Components 

Thereof, and Associated Software, Inv. No. 337-TA-724 (“Electronic Devices”), Comm’n Op. at 

13-14 (December 21, 2011)).  Under 35 U.S.C. § 271(a), direct infringement of a patent consists 

of making, using, offering to sell, or selling the patented invention without consent of the patent 
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owner. 

“An infringement analysis entails two steps.  The first step is determining the meaning 

and scope of the patent claims asserted to be infringed.  The second step is comparing the 

properly construed claims to the device accused of infringing.”  Markman v. Westview 

Instruments, Inc., 52 F.3d 967, 976 (Fed. Cir. 1995) (en banc), aff’d, 517 U.S. 370 (1996) 

(citation omitted).  Infringement must be proven by a preponderance of the evidence.  SmithKline 

Diagnostics, Inc. v. Helena Labs. Corp., 859 F.2d 878, 889 (Fed. Cir. 1988).  A preponderance 

of the evidence standard “requires proving that infringement was more likely than not to have 

occurred.”  Warner-Lambert Co. v. Teva Pharm. USA, Inc., 418 F.3d 1326, 1341 n.15 (Fed. Cir. 

2005).    

A complainant must prove either literal infringement or infringement under the doctrine 

of equivalents.  Literal infringement requires the patentee to prove that the accused device 

contains every limitation of the asserted claim(s).  Frank’s Casing Crew & Rental Tools, Inc. v. 

Weatherford Int’l, Inc., 389 F.3d 1370, 1378 (Fed. Cir. 2004).  “If even one limitation is missing 

or not met as claimed, there is no literal infringement.”  Elkay Mfg. Co. v. EBCO Mfg. Co., 192 

F.3d 973, 980 (Fed. Cir. 1999).  Literal infringement is a question of fact.  Finisar Corp. v. 

DirecTV Grp., Inc., 523 F.3d 1323, 1332 (Fed. Cir. 2008).  A patent may also be infringed under 

the doctrine of equivalents by manufacture, use, or sale of subject matter equivalent to that 

literally claimed.  Infringement under the doctrine of equivalents “requires proof of insubstantial 

differences between the claimed and accused products or processes.”  Fonar Corp. v. Gen. Elec. 

Co., 107 F.3d 1543, 1555 (Fed. Cir. 1997) citing Hilton Davis Chem. Co. v. Warner-Jenkinson 

Co., 62 F.3d 1512, 1521-22 (Fed. Cir. 1995). 
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C. Validity  

The patents are presumed to be valid and enforceable.  See, e.g., Panduit Corp. v. 

Dennison Mfg. Co., 810 F.2d 1561, 1570 (Fed. Cir. 1987) (“The presumption mandated by § 282 

is applicable to all of the many bases for challenging a patent’s validity.”); Vanderlande Indus. 

Nederland BV v. I.T.C., 366 F.3d 1311, 1324 (Fed. Cir. 2004) (“A party raising equitable 

estoppel as a defense must prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, three elements . . . .”).   

Staff does not challenge the validity or enforceability of any of the patents asserted against the 

Defaulting Respondents.   

D. Domestic Industry 

In patent-based proceedings under section 337, a complainant must establish that an 

industry “relating to the articles protected by the patent . . . exists or is in the process of being 

established” in the United States.  19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(2).  Under Commission precedent, the 

domestic industry requirement of section 337 consists of an “economic prong” and a “technical 

prong.”  See, e.g., Alloc, Inc. v. Intl Trade Comm’n, 342 F.3d 1361, 1375 (Fed. Cir. 2003).   

To meet the technical prong, the complainant must establish that it practices at least one 

claim of the asserted patent.  Certain Point of Sale Terminals and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 

337-TA-524, Order No. 40 at 17-18 (Apr. 11, 2005).  “The test for satisfying the ‘technical 

prong’ of the industry requirement is essentially [the] same as that for infringement, i.e., a 

comparison of domestic products to the asserted claims.”  Alloc, 342 F.3d at 1375.  With respect 

to the “economic prong,” subsection (3) of Section 337(a) provides: 

For purposes of paragraph (2), an industry in the United States shall be 
considered to exist if there is in the United States, with respect to the 
articles protected by the patent, copyright, trademark, mask work, or design 
concerned –  

(A) significant investment in plant and equipment; 
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(B) significant employment of labor or capital; or   

(C) substantial investment in its exploitation, including engineering, 
research and development, or licensing. 

19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(3).   

E. General Exclusion Order 

“The traditional remedy under subsection 337(d) is a limited exclusion order, which 

applies to the articles of specific parties before the Commission in the investigation.”  Earpiece 

Devices at 33 (citing Kyocera Wireless Corp. v. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 545 F.3d 1340, 1356 (Fed. 

Cir. 2008)).  In certain circumstances, however, the Commission can issue a general exclusion 

order (“GEO”) “bar[ring] the importation of infringing products of the named respondents found 

in violation of section 337 as well as infringing products of other entities that were not named in 

the notice of investigation . . . under two exceptional circumstances.”   Id. (citing Kyocera 

Wireless Corp. v. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 545 F.3d 1340, 1356 (Fed. Cir. 2008)).  According to 

Section 337(d)(2), the Commission may issue a GEO only if it is “necessary to prevent 

circumvention of an exclusion order limited to products of named persons” or  if “there is a 

pattern of violation of this section and it is difficult to identify the source of infringing products.”  

Earpiece Devices at 33 (citing Fuji Photo Film Co. v. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 474 F.3d 1281, 1286 

(Fed. Cir. 2007)).  “In determining whether either criterion is satisfied, the Commission may 

look not only to the infringing activities of active respondents, and respondents who have 

defaulted or been terminated from an investigation, but also to those of non-respondents.  Id. at 

33-34 (citing Certain Electronic Paper Towel Dispensing Devices and Components Thereof, Inv. 

No. 337-TA-718, Comm’n Op. at 13-14, 16 (Dec. 1, 2011); Certain Coaxial Cable Connectors 

and Components Thereof and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-650, Comm’n Op. at 

59 (April 14, 2010)). 
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Two paragraphs of Section 337 provide the Commission with the authority to issue a 

general exclusion order: 337(d)(2) and 337(g)(2).  Id.  “[P]aragraph (d)(2) applies when applies 

where one or more persons has appeared to contest the investigation, while paragraph (g)(2) is 

reserved for investigations where no person appears to contest the investigation.”  Id. at 34; see § 

1337(g)(2) (“a general exclusion from entry of articles, regardless of the source or importer of 

the articles, may be issued if—(A) no person appears to contest an investigation concerning a 

violation of the provisions of this section . . . .”).  Paragraph 337(d)(2) recites 

The authority of the Commission to order an exclusion from entry 
of articles shall be limited to persons determined by the Commission to 
be violating this section unless the Commission determines that— 

(A) a general exclusion from entry of articles is necessary to 
prevent circumvention of an exclusion order limited to 
products of named persons; or 

(B) there is a pattern of violation of this section and it is 
difficult to identify the source of infringing products. 

19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(2).   

Paragraph 337(g)(2) incorporates the requirements of paragraph 337(d)(2) and adds 

additional requirements.  U.S.C. § 1337(d)(2).  An explicit requirement contained in paragraph 

337(g)(2) but not paragraph 337(d)(2) is that the underlying violation section 337 must be 

“established by substantial, reliable, and probative evidence.”  19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(2).  Although 

not explicitly required by paragraph 337(d)(2), “the adjudicative provisions of the Administrative 

Procedure Act, which apply to section 337 investigations, provide that a sanction or order may 

not be issued unless supported by ‘reliable, probative, and substantial evidence.’”  Certain 

Sildenafil or Any Pharmaceutically Acceptable Salt Thereof Such As Sildenafil Citrate, and 

Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-489, Comm’n Op. (“Sildenafil”) at 4 (July 26, 

2004) (citing 5 U.S.C. § 556); Earpiece Devices at 34.  There is no difference between the 
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Administrative Procedure Act’s “reliable, probative, and substantial evidence” standard and 

paragraph 337(g)(2)’s “substantial, reliable, and probative” standard.  Sildenafil at 4; see also 

Earpiece Devices at 34.  The Commission has applied these standards pursuant to Commission 

Rule 210.16(c)(2) to issue general exclusion orders following a summary determination of 

violation against defaulted respondents.  See, e.g., Certain Ink Cartridges and Components 

Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-946, Comm’n Op. (May 26, 2016).1 

III. JURISDICTION  

To have the power to decide a case, a court or agency must have both subject matter 

jurisdiction and jurisdiction over either the parties or the property involved.  19 U.S.C. § 1337; 

Certain Steel Rod Treating Apparatus and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-97, 

Commission Memorandum Opinion, 215 U.S.P.Q. 229, 231 (1981).   

A. Subject Matter Jurisdiction 

Section 337 confers subject matter jurisdiction on the International Trade Commission to 

investigate and, if appropriate, to provide a remedy for, unfair acts and unfair methods of 

competition in the importation, the sale for importation, or the sale after importation of articles 

into the United States.  See 19 U.S.C. §§ 1337(a)(1)(B) and (a)(2).  The complaint alleges that 

the Defaulting Respondents have violated subsection 337(a)(1)(B) by the importation and sale of 

 
1 Complainants’ motion purports to rely on the provision of Commission Rule 210.16(c)(1) 
providing that “[t]he facts alleged in the complaint will be presumed to be true with respect to 
the defaulting respondent.”  19 C.F.R. § 210.16(c)(1).  This presumption applies only with 
respect to the entry of a limited exclusion order, however, which does not require a finding of 
violation by the administrative law judge.  See Certain Plastic Molding Machines with Control 
Systems Having Programmable Operator Interfaces Incorporating General Purpose Computers, 
and Components Thereof II, Inv. No. 337-TA-462, Comm’n Op., 2003 WL 24011979, at *6-7 
(Apr. 2, 2003) (explaining that the first paragraph of Commission Rule 210.16(c) “concerned the 
issuance of a limited exclusion order to a defaulting named respondent,” while the second 
paragraph concerned the issuance of GEOs in default cases.). 
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products that infringe the asserted patents.  As indicated below, I find that the importation 

requirement has been satisfied with respect to the accused products.  No party has contested the 

Commission’s jurisdiction over the accused products.  Thus, I find that the Commission has 

subject matter jurisdiction over this investigation under Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930.  

See Amgen, Inc. v. U.S. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 902 F.2d 1532, 1536 (Fed. Cir. 1990). 

B. Personal Jurisdiction 

Respondents submit to the personal jurisdiction of the Commission by answering the 

Complaint and Notice of Investigation, participating in discovery, appearing at hearings, and 

filing motions and briefs.  See Certain Miniature Hacksaws (‘Hacksaws”), Inv. No. 337-TA-

237, Initial Determination at 4, 1986 WL 379287 at *1 (Oct. 15, 1986), not reviewed in relevant 

part by Comm’n Action and Order, 1987 WL 450871 (Jan. 15, 1987).  Defaulting Respondents 

Veraflame, Ningbo Mascube, and Virtual Candles are foreign corporations as to which the 

Commission does not have personal jurisdiction.  Id.   

Defaulting Respondents Yiwu and Ningbo Shanhuang are foreign corporations that 

responded to the complaint initially but did not respond to discovery or the order to compel their 

participation.  See Order No. 16 (July 21, 2020).  As stated in Hacksaws, a finding of personal 

jurisdiction may be based on a sanction for failure to comply with discovery orders.  1986 WL 

379287 at *1.  The sanctions method entails three steps: (1) serving interrogatories directed to 

jurisdiction on the respondent; (2) compelling answers to those interrogatories; and (3) if the 

respondent does not comply, filing a motion for sanctions.  Complainants did not pursue the third 

step; as a result, in personam jurisdiction has not been established as to Defaulting Respondents 

Yiwu and Ningo Shanhuang.  

In the absence of in personam jurisdiction, cease and desist orders may not be issued 
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against the foreign Respondents.  Id. at *2.  

C. In Rem Jurisdiction 

The Commission has in rem jurisdiction over the products at issue by virtue of the below 

finding that the accused products have been imported into the United States.  See Sealed Air 

Corp. v. U.S. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 645 F.2d 976, 985 (C.C.P.A. 1981). 

IV. PRODUCTS AT ISSUE 

The products at issue are artificial candles that simulate a flame effect using electronic 

components.  Notice of Investigation at 2. 

A. The Accused Products 

The accused products of Defaulting Respondent Veraflame are sold under the Veraflame 

and the Flickering Candle brands.  Memo. at 4-5.  In their complaint, Complainants allege, 

without evidence, that “[a]nalysis of the Veraflame candle and the Flickering Candle shows that 

their internal designs are identical.”  Complaint, ¶ 209.  In their motion, Complainants do not 

address whether the Veraflame candle and the Flickering Candle are representative of each other, 

and all of infringement evidence is based on the Veraflame candle.  Accordingly, Complainants 

have failed to make a prima facie case of infringement with respect to the Flickering Candle 

product.  The accused Veraflame products shall be referenced separately as the “Veraflame 

candle” and the “Flickering Candle.” 

The accused products of Defaulting Respondent Ningbo Mascube are sold under The 

Sharper Image brand (the “Ningbo Mascube Sharper Image candle”).  Id.   

The accused products of Defaulting Respondent Ningbo Shanhuang are sold under the 

Ningbo Shanhuang LED Candle and Luminicious Elegant Flameless Real Wax Candle brands.  

Id.  With respect to the asserted claims, the Ningbo Shanhuang LED Candle and Luminicious 

Elegant Flameless Real Wax Candle are almost identical.  Compare CX-0094-CX-0096 
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(infringement charts for Ningbo Shanhuang LED Candle) with CX-0097-CX-0099 (infringement 

charts for Luminicious Elegant Flameless Real Wax Candle).  Accordingly, the Ningbo 

Shanhuang LED Candle is representative of the Luminicious Elegant Flameless Real Wax 

Candle.  These products shall be referenced collectively as the “accused Ningbo Shanhuang 

candles.” 

The accused products of Defaulting Respondent Yiwu are sold under the Vinkor, Antizer, 

YIWER, Pandaing, Dabaiyang, Oshine, Junpei, and Aku Tonpa brands.  Memo. at 4-5.  With 

respect to the asserted claims, there is no material difference between the Vinkor and Antizer 

brands.  Compare CX-0102-CX-0104 (infringement charts for Vinkor candle) with CX-0105-

CX-0107 (infringement charts for Antizer candle).  There is no material difference with respect 

to the asserted claims between the YIWER, Pandaing, Dabaiyang, OSHINE, JUNPEI, and Aku 

Tonpa branded candles.  Compare CX-0108-CX-0110 (infringement charts for Vinkor candle) 

with CX-0111-CX-0113 (infringement charts for the Pandaing candle), CX-0114-CX-0116 

(infringement charts for Dabaiyang candle), CX-0117-CX-0119 (infringement charts for Oshine 

candle), CX-0120-CX-0122 (infringement charts for Junpei candle), CX-0123-CX-0125  

(infringement charts for Aku Tonpa candle).  Accordingly, for infringement, the Vinkor candle is 

representative of the Antizer candle and the YIWER candle is representative of the Pandaing, 

Dabaiyang, OSHINE, JUNPEI, and Aku Tonpa candles.  These products shall be referenced 

collectively as the “accused Yiwu candles.” 

The accused products of Defaulting Respondent Virtual Candles are sold under the TFL 

Flameless Candle brand (the “Flameless Candle”).  Memo. at 4-5.      

B. Domestic Industry Products 

To satisfy the technical prong of the domestic industry requirement Complainants rely on 
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two types of products: V-wire and Pin & Socket.  Memo. at 6.  Each of these categories consists 

of four subgroups.  Id.  The V-wire subgroups are V-wire Pillar, V-wire Taper, V-wire Votive, 

and V-wire Tealight; the Pin & Socket subgroups are Pin & Socket Pillar, Pin & Socket Taper, 

Pin & Socket Votive, and Pin & Socket Tealight.  Id.  Unless otherwise noted, with respect to the 

claims at issue, there is no material difference between the candles within a particular subgroup, 

e.g. a V-wire Pillar candle representative of other V-wire Pillar candles.  Shackle Decl. ¶ 17.  

Moreover, unless otherwise noted, there is no material difference relevant to the claims between 

the V-wire Votive candles and the V-wire Tealight candles and between the Pin & Socket Votive 

candles and the Pin & Socket Tealight candles.  Id.  Accordingly, unless specifically noted 

otherwise, each candle is representative of its subgroup, V-wire Votive candles are representative 

of V-wire Tealight candles, and Pin & Socket Votive candles are representative of Pin & Socket 

Tealight candles. 

The DI Products are divided in two main structural types; V-wire and Pin & Socket.  The 

V-wire Products affix their flame piece about a v-shaped wire embedded through a hole in the 

flame piece, while the Pin & Socket Products affix the flame piece on a pin that fits into a socket 

formed in the flame piece.  Examples of each are shown below. 

 
V-wire Pillar, CX-0308C at 11. 

 
Pin & Socket Pillar, CX-0521C (annotations 

added). 
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The V-wire Products and Pin & Socket Products are each sold in various candle styles.  

Accordingly, Complainants’ representative candles for both structural types are further identified 

by the four styles, pillar, taper, votive, and tealight, which correspond to standard candle shapes 

and sizes.  Memo. at 7.    

See Kaplan Decl. ¶ 18.   

 
V-wire Pillar, CX-038C at 1. 

 
V-wire Taper, 

CX-0309C at 1. 
 

V-wire Votive, CX-0310C at 1. 

 
Pin & Socket Pillar, CX-0311C at 

1. 

 
Pin & Socket 

Taper, CX-0312C 
at 1. 

 
Pin & Socket Votive, CX-0313C 

at 1. 
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V. IMPORTATION 

Section 337 prohibits “[t]he importation into the United States, the sale for importation, 

or the sale within the United States after importation by the owner, importer, or consignee, of 

articles that (i) infringe a valid and enforceable United States patent . . . .”  19 U.S.C. § 

1337(a)(1)(B).  A complainant “need only prove importation of a single accused product to 

satisfy the importation element.”  Certain Purple Protective Gloves, Inv. No. 337-TA-500, Order 

No. 17 at 5 (Sep. 23, 2004).    

Evidence of specific instances of importation of the Accused Products by the Defaulting 

Respondents is provided in the complaint and accompanying exhibits.  Complaint ¶¶ 207-215, 

225-270; CX-0075-CX-0082, CX-0094-CX-0142.   

Except for Veraflame, Staff agrees that Complainants’ motion identified substantial, 

reliable and probative evidence that each Defaulting Respondent has imported one or more 

accused products.  Staff Resp. at 8.  In addition, Staff agrees that Complainants have shown that 

accused products have been imported into the U.S. except for the accused Veraflame products, 

Ningbo Shanhuang’s Luminicious product, and Yiwu’s Pandaing product.  Id. at 8-11. 

In their motion, Complainants alleged satisfaction of the importation requirement for 

Veraflame on the basis that Veraflame is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of 

Canada and that physical samples of Veraflame’s accused candles were purchased from within 

the United States and contained the same internal designs.  Complaint ¶¶ 63, 207-209; CX-0077-

CX-0078.  As Staff notes, the facts alleged by Complainants—Veraflame is a Canadian 

corporation and Veraflame products were purchased in the U.S.—do not show that Veraflame 

products were imported into the U.S.  In its reply, Complainants supplement their argument by 

pointing to their Second Supplement to the Complaint (Mar. 20, 2020), in which the 
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Complainants requested that the following sentence be added to paragraph 207 of the Complaint:  

“The product packaging of the Veraflame Candle is labeled ‘MADE IN CHINA,’ indicating that 

the accused product was manufactured and/or assembled in China.  See Exhibit 135.”  

Complainants also submitted a revised Exhibit 135 to their Complaint showing the Veraflame 

product’s packaging, which states that the product was “Made in China” and “Assembled in 

China.”  Second Supplement to the Complaint, Exhibit 135 at 19.  This evidence is sufficient to 

show importation of the Veraflame Candle but not the Flickering Candle product. 

Ningbo Mascube is a Chinese corporation.  Complaint ¶ 68.  A physical sample of 

Ningbo Mascube’s Sharper Image Candle was purchased from within the United States. 

Complaint ¶ 212; CX-0081.  The product packaging and the product itself both indicate that the 

accused product was manufactured and/or assembled in China.  Complaint ¶ 214; CX-0170 at 7.  

Searches of the Seair Exim Solutions import/export database also show Ningbo Mascube as the 

primary supplier of imported LED products for MerchSource.  Complaint ¶¶ 66-67; CX-0082. 

Ningbo Shanhuang is a Chinese corporation.  Complaint ¶ 80.  A physical sample of the 

accused Ningbo Shanhuang LED candles were purchased from Alibaba.com and delivered to the 

United States.  Complaint ¶ 225, CX-0100.  A sample of the accused Luminicious Flickering 

Flame candle was purchased from Amazon.com and delivered within the United States.  

Complaint ¶¶ 228–29, CX-0101.  While Staff agrees that Complainants have shown an 

importation of the Ningbo Shanhuang LED device, Staff argues that Complainants have not 

shown an importation of the Luminicious device.  Staff Resp. at 10-11.  Complainants argue that 

their “expert concluded that the Luminicious candle is identical to the Shanhuang LED candle, 

(see Shackle Decl. at ¶ 515), and that can be plainly seen in photos of each candle throughout the 

claim charts, (compare, e.g., CX-0094, with CX-0097).”  Reply at 5.  Complainants argue that 
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In addition, the circuit board of the Luminicious device has a black structure to the left of the coil 

that is absent on the circuit board of the Ningbo Shanhuang LED device).  Accordingly, I find 

that Complainants have not shown that the Luminicious device was imported. 

Yiwu is a Chinese corporation.  Complaint ¶ 83.   Physical samples of the various 

accused Yiwu brands were purchased from Amazon.com and delivered within the United States.  

Complaint ¶¶ 232, 235, 239, 243, 246, 250, 254, 25; CX-0126–CX-0133.  Except for the 

Pandaing device, each of the accused Yiwu candle brands came with labelling indicating it was 

manufactured and/or assembled in China.  Complaint ¶¶ 233, 236, 240, 247, 251, 255, 259; CX-

0170.  With respect to the Pandaing device, Complainants argue that the eight brands of accused 

Yiwu candles “were all sourced from the same manufacturer, Yiwu,” and that seven of those 

brands are marked “MADE IN CHINA.”  Reply at 4-5.  Complainants cite their expert who 

concludes that the Pandaing device is “substantially the same product as five of the other Yiwu 

candles.”  Id. (citing Shackle Decl. ¶ 430).  Complainants also point to the declaration of Misty 

Woolley, L&L’s Vice President of Business Development, as evidence that Yiwu’s accused 

candle brands “were all manufactured by the same source because the online sales pages boxes 

using the same font and Styrofoam inserts; the accompanying remotes were identical; and brand 

listings on Alibaba.com identified the manufacturers as Yiwu Shengda Art Co., Ltd.”  Id. (citing 

Second Supplementation to Complaint, Woolley Decl., ¶¶ 6-12 (Mar. 20, 2020)).   

The evidence cited by Complainants is insufficient for summary determination of 

importation with respect to the Pandaing product.  Dr. Shackle does opine that the accused Yiwu 

brands are identical or manufactured by the same source.  It is unclear what he means by 

“substantially similar.”  In her declaration, Ms. Woolley states that the accused Yiwu candles 

had the same packaging:  “The packaging for the various candles as identical.  Each seller sent a 
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plain brown box marked ‘Flameless LED Candles, Made in China’ in identical font.  Those 

boxes contained identical Styrofoam inserts in which the candle had been packed.”  Second 

Supplementation to Complaint, Woolley Decl., ¶ 7.  Complainants, however, do not claim that 

the packaging of the Pandaing device was so marked, so it does not appear that Ms. Woolley’s 

description applies to that device.  Although Ms. Woolley states that she “found listings on 

Alibaba.com, e.g., for Antizer, where the manufacturer of the candle was identified as Yiwu 

Shengda Art Co. Ltd.,” she does not state that she found such listings for all of the brands of 

accused Yiwu devices.  Id. at ¶ 11.  Accordingly, I find that Complainants have not shown that 

the Pandaing device was imported. 

Virtual Candles is a United Kingdom-based company.  Complaint ¶ 97.  Virtual Candles 

is a sales agent and distributor for its accused candles.  Complaint ¶ 98; CX-0140, CX-0141.  

Complainants engaged with Simon Wigglesworth of Virtual Candles to purchase samples of the 

accused electronic candle products.  Complaint ¶¶ 263, 264; CX-0140.  A wire transfer for the 

samples was made to Hong Kong, and Virtual Candles shipped the samples from the United 

Kingdom to Complainants in the United States.  Complaint ¶¶ 265, 266; CX-0139, CX-0140, 

CX-0141.  Virtual Candles additionally confirmed that the samples were manufactured in China 

and offered to sell additional candles for importation into the United States and provided prices 

and quantities for such shipments.  Complaint ¶¶ 268, 269; CX-0136, CX-0140, CX-0142. 

Complainants have thus shown that each of the Defaulting Respondents has imported at 

least one accused product.  Each of the accused products has been imported except for the 

Flickering Candle, the Luminicious Elegant Flameless Real Wax Candle, and the Pandaing 

candle. 
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VI. THE ’402 PATENT 

The ’402 patent is entitled “Electronic Lighting Device and Method for Manufacturing 

Same.”  CX-0003, cover.  The '402 patent relates in general to an electronic candle that creates a 

visual experience of true fire while simplifying manufacturing.   The ’402 patent has 15 claims.  

All of claims of the ’402 patent, except for claim 11, are asserted against one or more of the 

Defaulting Respondents.2  Complainants also contend that the asserted claims are practiced by 

one or more domestic industry products.   Of the asserted claims, claims 1 and 10 are 

independent.   

Independent claim 1 recites: 

1. An electronic lighting device comprising: 

an enclosure provided with a through hole on an upper surface; 

a flame component comprising a first portion shaped in appearance to 
substantially resemble the shape of a flame when viewed from at least 
one perspective, the flame component supported such that the first 
portion is exposed above the upper surface of the enclosure through the 
through hole of the enclosure; and 

at least one light-emitting element contained entirely within an interior of 
the enclosure and positioned such that an outgoing direction of a light 
from the light-emitting element is projected from within the interior of 
the enclosure, through the through hole of the upper surface of the 
enclosure, and onto at least one surface of the first portion of the flame 
component, thereby illuminating the flame component from a light 
source external to the flame component; 

wherein the enclosure comprises at least two enclosure elements 
operably configured to connect to form the enclosure having a cavity and 
the through hole and at least one of the enclosure elements comprises a 
cradle on its sidewall forming an installation location for one or more of 
the at least one light-emitting element, wherein the installation location 

 
2 No claim of the ’402 patent is asserted against Defaulting Defendant Ningbo Mascube.  Memo. 
at 20 n. 5. 
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is operably configured to allow the at least one light-emitting element to 
emit light at a direction towards the through hole. 

Claims 2-9 depend either directly or through an intervening dependent claim from claim 1.   

2. The electronic lighting device of claim 1, wherein connecting of the at 
least two enclosure elements substantially secures one of the at least one 
light-emitting elements into the installation location. 

3. The electronic lighting device of claim 1, wherein connecting of the at 
least two enclosure elements substantially secures the flame component 
such that the first portion is exposed above the upper surface of the 
enclosure. 

4. The electronic lighting device of claim 1, further comprising an outer 
casing configured to operably connect to the enclosure, the outer casing 
comprising a through hole on a surface thereof which generally aligns 
with the through hole of the enclosure when the outer casing is operably 
connected with the enclosure. 

5. The electronic lighting device of claim 1, further comprising an outer 
casing comprising a through hole, the outer casing securing the enclosure 
such that the first portion of the flame component extends through the 
through hole of the outer casing. 

6. The electronic lighting device of claim 1, wherein at least one of the at 
least one light-emitting elements is an LED. 

7. The electronic lighting device of claim 1, wherein the flame 
component comprises a through hole, extending from a first side of the 
flame component to another, and wherein the flame component is 
supported by a wire extending through the through hole of the flame 
component. 

8. The electronic lighting device of claim 7, wherein at least one of the at 
least one light-emitting elements emits light from a first side of the wire 
at an angle toward the first portion of the flame component, which is 
positioned on an opposite side of the wire. 

9. An electronic lighting device of claim 1, further comprising a magnet 
on a second portion of the flame component, the second portion opposite 
the first portion, and a coil positioned near the magnet of the flame 
component and energized by an electronic control circuit to produce a 
changing magnetic field interacting with the magnet of the flame 
component, thereby causing movement of the flame component. 

 Independent claim 10 recites 
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10. An electronic candle comprising: 

an enclosure provided with a through hole on an upper surface thereof; 

a flame component comprising a first portion shaped in appearance to 
substantially resemble the shape of a flame when viewed from at least 
one perspective and being movably supported relative to the enclosure 
such that the first portion is exposed above the upper surface of the 
enclosure through the through hole of the enclosure; 

an electrically-powered driving mechanism disposed adjacent the flame 
component and applying a force on the flame component to actuate the 
flame component to sway or swing; and 

at least one light-emitting element contained entirely within an interior of 
the enclosure and positioned such that an outgoing direction of a light 
from the at least one light-emitting element is projected from within the 
interior of the enclosure, through the through hole of the upper surface of 
the enclosure, and onto at least one surface of the first portion of the 
flame component, thereby illuminating the flame component from the at 
least one light-emitting element operating as a light source external to 
the flame component; 

wherein the enclosure comprises at least two enclosure elements 
operably configured to connect to form the enclosure having a cavity and 
the through hole; 

wherein at least one of the enclosure elements comprises a cradle on its 
sidewall forming an installation location for one or more of the at least 
one light-emitting element; 

wherein the installation location is operably configured to allow the at 
least one light-emitting element to emit light at a direction towards the 
through hole; and 

wherein the flame component comprises a magnet at an end opposite the 
first portion, and the electrically-powered driving mechanism comprises 
a coil positioned near the magnet of the flame component, energized by 
an electronic control circuit to produce a changing magnetic field 
interacting with the magnet of the flame component, thereby causing 
movement of the flame component. 

Claims 12-15 depend either directly or through an intervening dependent claim from claim 1.   

12. The electronic candle of claim 10, wherein the at least two enclosure 
elements being connected to each other substantially secures one of the 
at least one light-emitting elements into the installation location. 



PUBLIC VERSION 
 

 

27 
 

13. The electronic candle of claim 10, wherein the at least two enclosure 
elements being connected to each other substantially secures the flame 
component such that the first portion is exposed above the upper surface 
of the enclosure. 

14. The electronic candle of claim 10, further comprising an outer casing 
configured to operably connect to the enclosure, the outer casing 
comprising a through hole on a surface thereof which generally aligns 
with the through hole of the enclosure when the outer casing is operably 
connected with the enclosure. 

15. The electronic candle of claim 14, wherein the outer casing secures 
the enclosure such that the first portion of the flame component extends 
through the through hole of the outer casing. 

C. Claim Construction 

In the Markman Order the term “flame component” as recited in claims 1 and 10 of the 

’402 patent and other accused patents was construed to mean “a sheet onto which light is 

projected to simulate a flame, the sheet having an upper end above the surface of the enclosure 

and a lower end below the surface of the enclosure and the sheet being capable of swinging or 

swaying.”  Order No. 24 at 56–57 (Sept. 14, 2020). 

D. Infringement  

Complainants allege that the accused Veraflame products infringe claims 1-6, 9, 10, and 

12-15; the accused Ningbo Shanhuang products of infringing claims 1-10 and 12-15; the accused 

Yiwu products of infringing claims 1-7, 10, and 12-15; and the accused Virtual Candles products 

of infringing claims 1, 2, 4-7, 9, 10, 12, 14, and 15 of the ’402 patent.  Memo. at 24.  

Complainants rely on an analysis by Dr. Shackle based on the infringement claim charts attached 

to the complaint and virtual inspections of certain accused products.  Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 365-476.3 

 
3 Staff notes that the exhibit numbers cited by Dr. Shackle are different from the exhibits 
attached to Complainants’ motion, but there is no dispute that both Dr. Shackle and 
Complainants are referencing copies of the exhibits to the complaint.  Staff Resp. at 17.  CX-
0075/CX-0322 (Veraflame) is exhibit 40 to the complaint; CX-0094/CX-0323 (Ningbo 
Shanhuang LED) is exhibit 59 to the complaint; CX-0097/CX-0324 (Luminicious) is exhibit 62 
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1. Claim 1 

Photographs of the exterior of the Veraflame candle, the accused Ningbo Shanhuang 

candles, the accused Yiwu candles, and the Flameless Candle show that these products infringe 

the limitations of  claim 1 requiring an electronic lighting device comprising “an enclosure 

provided with a through hole on an upper surface” and “a flame component” capable of 

swinging, with a portion “shaped in appearance to substantially resemble the shape of a flame” 

and “exposed above the upper surface of the enclosure through the through hole of the 

enclosure.”  See CX-0075 at 1-2, CX-0094 at 1-3, CX-0102 at 1-4, CX-0108 at 1-2, CX-0134 at 

1-2; Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 367-71, 385-90, 406-11, 431-40, 462-66. 

 
Veraflame, CX-0075 at 1. 

 
Ningbo Shanhuang, CX-

0094 at 1. 

 
Yiwu Vinkor, CX-0102 at 1. 

 
to the complaint; CX-0102/CX-0325 (Vinkor) is exhibit 67 to the complaint; CX-0105/CX-0326 
(Antizer) is exhibit 70 to the complaint; CX-0108/CX-0327 (YIWER) is exhibit 73 to the 
complaint; CX-0111/CX-0327 (Pandaing) is exhibit 76 to the complaint; CX-0114/CX-0329 
(Dabaiyang) is exhibit 79 to the complaint; CX-0117/CX-0330 (Oshine) is exhibit 82 to the 
complaint; CX-0120/CX-0331 (Junpei) is exhibit 85 to the complaint; CX-0123/CX-0332 (Aku 
Tonpa) is exhibit 88 to the complaint; and CX-0134/CX-0333 (Flameless Candle) is exhibit 99 to 
the complaint.  
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Yiwu YIWER, CX-0108 at 1. 

 
Flameless Candle, CX-0134 at 1. 

 
Photographs of the interior of the Veraflame candle, the accused Ningbo Shanhuang 

candles, the accused Yiwu candles, and the Flameless Candle show that these products infringe 

the limitations of claim 1 requiring “one light-emitting element contained entirely within an 

interior of the enclosure” positioned to emit light “through the through hole of the upper surface 

of the enclosure, and onto at least one surface of the first portion of the flame component, 

thereby illuminating the flame component from a light source external to the flame component.”  

See CX-0075 at 3–4, CX-0094 at 4, CX-0102 at 5–6, CX-0108 at 3, CX-0134 at 2–3; Shackle 

Decl. ¶¶ 370, 388, 409, 434, 465. 
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Veraflame, CX-0075 at 4. 

 
Ningbo Shanhuang, 

CX-0094 at 4. 
 

Yiwu Vinkor,  
CX-0102 at 5. 

 
Yiwu YIWER, CX-0108 at 3. 

 
Flameless Candle, CX-0134 at 3. 

 
In addition, these interior photographs show that the Veraflame candle, the accused 

Ningbo Shanhuang candles, the accused Yiwu candles, and the Flameless Candle infringe the 

final limitation of claim 1, requiring that “the enclosure comprises at least two enclosure 

elements operably configured to connect,” and “at least one of the enclosure elements comprises 

a cradle on its sidewall forming an installation location for one or more of the at least one light-

emitting element.”  See CX-0075 at 5, CX-0094 at 5–6, CX-0102 at 7–8, CX-0108 at 4, CX-

0134 at 3–4; Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 371, 389, 410, 435, 466. 
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2. Claim 10 

As discussed above in the context of claim 1, photographs of the exterior of the 

Veraflame candle, the accused Ningbo Shanhuang candles, the accused Yiwu candles, and the 

Flameless Candle show that these products infringe the limitations of claim 10 requiring an 

electronic lighting device comprising “an enclosure provided with a through hole on an upper 

surface” and “a flame component” capable of swinging, with a portion “shaped in appearance to 

substantially resemble the shape of a flame” and “exposed above the upper surface of the 

enclosure through the through hole of the enclosure.”  See CX-0075 at 10-11, CX-0094 at 10-17, 

CX-0102 at 13-16, CX-0108 at 10-11, CX-0134 at 9-10; Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 372-74, 391-93, 412-

14, 441-43, 467-69. 

Photographs of the interior of the Veraflame candle, the accused Ningbo Shanhuang 

candles, the accused Yiwu candles, and the Flameless Candle show that these products infringe 

the limitations of claim 10 requiring “an electrically-powered driving mechanism disposed 

adjacent the flame component and applying a force on the flame component to actuate the flame 

component to sway or swing.”  See CX-0075 at 12, CX-0094 at 18, CX-0102 at 17, CX-0108 at 

12, CX-0134 at 10; Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 375, 394, 415, 444, 470. 



PUBLIC VERSION 
 

 

32 
 

 
Veraflame, CX-0075 at 12. 

 
Ningbo Shanhuang,  

CX-0094 at 18. 

 
Yiwu Vinkor,  

CX-0102 at 17. 

 
Yiwu YIWER, CX-0108 at 12. 

 
Flameless Candle, CX-0134 at 10. 

 
As discussed above in the context of claim 1, photographs of the interior of the 

Veraflame candle, the accused Ningbo Shanhuang candles, the accused Yiwu candles, and the 

Flameless Candle also show that these products infringe the limitations of claim 10 requiring 

“one light-emitting element contained entirely within an interior of the enclosure” positioned to 

emit light “through the through hole of the upper surface of the enclosure, and onto at least one 

surface of the first portion of the flame component, thereby illuminating the flame component 

from a light source external to the flame component.”  See CX-0075 at 12-13, CX-0094 at 19, 

CX-0102 at 18-19, CX-0108 at 12-13, CX-0134 at 11; Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 376, 395, 416, 445, 471.   
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Moreover, the interior photographs show that the accused Veraflame, Ningbo Shanhuang, 

Yiwu, and Virtual Candles products infringe the limitations of claim 10 requiring that “the 

enclosure comprises at least two enclosure elements operably configured to connect to form the 

enclosure having a cavity and the through hole,” “wherein at least one of the enclosure elements 

comprises a cradle on its sidewall forming an installation location for one or more of the at least 

one light-emitting element,” and “the installation location is operably configured to allow the at 

least one light-emitting element to emit light at a direction towards the through hole.”  CX-0075 

at 14-15, CX-0094 at 20-22, CX-0102 at 20-22, CX-0108 at 14-15, CX-0134 at 1213; Shackle 

Decl. ¶¶ 377-79, 396-98, 417-19, 446-48, 472-74. 

Additional photographs of the interior of the Veraflame candle, the accused Ningbo 

Shanhuang candles, the accused Yiwu candles, and the Flameless Candle further show that these 

products infringe the final limitation of claim 10 requiring the flame component to include a 

“magnet” and “the electrically-powered driving mechanism comprises a coil positioned near the 

magnet of the flame component, energized by an electronic control circuit to produce a changing 

magnetic field interacting with the magnet of the flame component, thereby causing movement 

of the flame component.”  CX-0075 at 16, CX-0094 at 23, CX-0102 at 23, CX-0108 at 15, CX-

0134 at 14; Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 380, 399, 420, 449, 475. 
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Veraflame, CX-0075 at 16. 

 
Ningbo Shanhuang,  

CX-0094 at 23. 

 
Yiwu Vinkor,  

CX-0102 at 23. 

 
Yiwu YIWER, CX-0108 at 15. 

 
Flameless Candle, CX-0134 at 14. 

 
3. Dependent Claims 

Additional photographs of the Veraflame candle show that it infringes the limitations of 

dependent claims 2–6, 9, and 12–15 of the ’402 patent.  CX-0075; Shackle Decl. ¶ 381. 

Additional photographs of the accused Ningbo Shanhuang products show that they 

infringe the limitations of dependent claims 2–9 and 12–15 of the ’402 patent.  CX-0094; CX-

0097; Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 401, 402. 

Additional photographs of the accused Yiwu products show that they infringe the 

limitations of dependent claims 2–7 and 12–15 of the ’402 patent.  CX-0102; CX-0105; CX-

0108; CX-0111; CX-0114; CX-0117; CX-0120; CX-0123; Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 422–423, 455–460. 
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Additional photographs of the Flameless Candle show that it infringes the limitations of 

dependent claims 2–9 and 12–15 of the ’402 patent.  CX-0134; Shackle Decl. ¶ 476. 

Staff does not dispute Complainants’ allegations of infringement with respect to the ’402 

patent.  Staff Resp. at 16-18.  Accordingly, the Veraflame candle infringes claims 1-6, 9, 10, 12-

15; the accused Ningbo Shanhuang products infringe claims 1-10 and 12-15; the accused Yiwu 

products infringe claims 1-7, 10, and 12-15; and the Flameless Candle infringes claims 1, 2, 4-7, 

9, 10, 12, 14, and 15 of the ’402 patent. 

E. Technical Prong of the Domestic Industry Requirement 

Complainants contend that their V-wire Pillar, V-wire Taper, and V-Wire Votive 

products practice claims 1-10 and 12-15 of the ’402 patent and their Pin & Socket Pillar, Pin & 

Socket Taper, and Pin & Socket Votive products practice claims 1, 4-6, 9, 10, 14 and 15 of the 

’402 patent.  Memo. at 42.  Complainants rely on an analysis by Dr. Shackle based on the 

domestic industry claim charts attached to the complaint and virtual inspections of certain 

products.  Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 35-150 (citing CX-0308C (Complaint Supplemental Exhibit 19); 

CX-0309C (Complaint Supplemental Exhibit 22); CX-0310C (Complaint Supplemental Exhibit 

25); CX-0311C (Complaint Supplemental Exhibit 32); CX-0312C (Complaint Supplemental 

Exhibit 33); CX-0313C (Complaint Supplemental Exhibit 40). 

1. Claim 1 

Photographs of the exterior of the domestic industry products show that they practice the 

limitations of  claim 1 requiring an electronic lighting device comprising “an enclosure provided 

with a through hole on an upper surface” and “a flame component” capable of swinging, with a 

portion “shaped in appearance to substantially resemble the shape of a flame” and “exposed 

above the upper surface of the enclosure through the through hole of the enclosure.”  See CX-
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0308C at 1-3, CX-0309C at 1-3, CX-0310C at 1-2, CX-0311C at 1-2, CX-0312C at 1-2, CX-

0313C at 1-2; Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 36–60. 

Photographs of the interior of the domestic industry products show that they practice the 

limitations of claim 1 requiring “one light-emitting element contained entirely within an interior 

of the enclosure” positioned to emit light “through the through hole of the upper surface of the 

enclosure, and onto at least one surface of the first portion of the flame component, thereby 

illuminating the flame component from a light source external to the flame component.”  See 

CX-0308C at 5, CX-0309C at 4, CX-0310C at 4, CX-0311C at 3, CX-0312C at 3, CX-0313C at 

3; Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 61–67. 

In addition, these interior photographs show that the domestic industry products practice 

the final limitation of claim 1, requiring that “the enclosure comprises at least two enclosure 

elements operably configured to connect,” and “at least one of the enclosure elements comprises 

a cradle on its sidewall forming an installation location for one or more of the at least one light-

emitting element.”  See CX-0308C at 6, CX-0309C at 5, CX-0310C at 5-6, CX-0311C at 3, CX-

0312C at 3, CX-0313C at 4; Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 68–92. 

2. Claim 10 

As discussed above in the context of claim 1, photographs of the exterior of the domestic 

industry products show that they practice the limitations of claim 10 requiring an electronic 

lighting device comprising “an enclosure provided with a through hole on an upper surface” and 

“a flame component” capable of swinging, with a portion “shaped in appearance to substantially 

resemble the shape of a flame” and “exposed above the upper surface of the enclosure through 

the through hole of the enclosure.”  See CX-0308C at 13-16, CX-0309C at 15-17, CX-0310C at 

13-14, CX-0311C at 6-7, CX-0312C at 6-7, CX-0313C at 7-8; Shackle Decl. ¶¶ 93–101. 




